STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

JUN 17 2016

Appellate Case No. 2016-000652

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Daufuskie Island Utility Company, Inc.,

Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Office of Regulatory Staff,
Haig Point Club and Community Association, Inc.,
Melrose Property Owner's Association, Inc.,
Bloody Point Property Owner's Association, and
Beach Field Properties, LLC,

Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Thomas P. Gressette, Jr.
G. Trenholm Walker
PRATT-THOMAS WALKER, P.A.
P.O. Drawer 22247
Charleston, SC 29413-2247
(843)727-2200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT
DAUFUSKIE ISLAND UTILITY COMPANY, INC.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. WHEN CONSIDERING AN APPLICATION FOR WATER AND SEWER RATE INCREASES, CAN THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION ADMIT INTO EVIDENCE A PROPOSED SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT THAT INCLUDES ORS AND INTERVENORS BUT EXCLUDES THE APPLICANT AND THEN ENTER AN ORDER APPROVING THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT BINDING THE APPLICANT OVER ITS OBJECTIONS?

2. DID THE COMMISSION ERR IN REFUSING TO CONSIDER DIUC'S ENTIRE PETITION FOR RECONSIDERATION, INCLUDING THE INEVITABLE LOAN DEFAULT THAT DIUC WILL FACE IF THE INSUFFICIENT RATES ESTABLISHED BY ORDER 2015-846 ARE NOT MODIFIED?

3. SHOULD THIS COURT REVERSE OR MODIFY PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION ORDER 2015-846 BECAUSE ITS ADOPTION OF THE ADJUSTMENTS OF ORS AND ITS REJECTION OF DIUC'S ANALYSIS OF PROPERTY TAXES, MANAGEMENT FEES, RATE CASE EXPENSES, BAD DEBTS, AND RATE BASE ARE LEGALLY ERRONEOUS, NOT SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE, AND PREJUDICE SUBSTANTIAL RIGHTS OF THE APPLICANT?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Daufuskie Island Utility Company, Inc., the sole provider of water and sewer service to a service area that encompasses Daufuskie Island, Beaufort County, South Carolina, ("DIUC") applied to the Public Service Commission (the "Commission" or "PSC") on June 9, 2015, for approval of a new schedule of rates and charges for water and sewer service ("the Application"). (Application) At the instruction of the Office of the Clerk of the Commission, DIUC published a Notice of Filing. (Notice of Filing) The Notice reported that DIUC "has not applied for rate relief since 2012" and that DIUC states "the proposed rates ... are essential for the company to continue to provide its customers adequate water and sewer service." (Notice of Filing at p. 1)

On July 23, 2015, the Haig Point Club and Community Association, Inc., Melrose Property Owner's Association, Inc., and Bloody Point Property Owner's Association, (collectively "Intervenors") filed a Petition to Intervene. (POA's Petition to Intervene) On July 27, 2015, a Petition to Intervene was filed by Beach Field Properties, LLC ("Beach Field"), an owner of property within the DIUC service area. (Petition to Intervene by Beach Field) Both petitions were granted. (S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm'n Order 2015-584 and Order 2015-585)

A hearing on the Application was scheduled for October 28, 2015. (Notice of Filing at p.1) Prior to the hearing DIUC, the Office of Regulatory Staff ("ORS"), and the Intervenors filed pre-filed testimony. Beach Field did not file any testimony. Subsequent to their intervention, the Intervenors requested a public night hearing to allow customers of DIUC to present any comments regarding the service and rates of DIUC. Pursuant to Order No. 2015-586, a public hearing was set and noticed by the Commission, and the Company provided an affidavit certifying that it had provided notice of the date, time and location of the local public hearing via publication in The Beaufort Gazette and The Island Packet. (Order 2015-846) On September 15, 2015, the Commission held a night hearing beginning at 6:00 pm at the Haig Point Club Clubhouse, 130 Clubhouse Lane, Daufuskie Island, South Carolina. (Order 2015-846 stating Hearing Exhibit 1 consists of the night hearing sign-in sheets and Hearing Exhibit 2 consists of comments filed by a public witness)

On the afternoon of October 27, 2015, the day before the scheduled hearing before the Commission, the Intervenors filed a document captioned "Settlement Agreement." (Cover Letter, Pringle to Boyd, with "Settlement Agreement" and Exhibits)

The only parties to the document submitted as a "Settlement Agreement" are ORS and the Intervenors. DIUC did not know about, did not consent to, and was not a party to the purported "Settlement Agreement." (Settlement Agreement at 1). The Settlement Agreement included those parties' agreement on adjustments to the application of DIUC, on the allowed rate of return and operating margin, and even on the matters that would be admitted into evidence.

On October 28, 2015, the Commission conducted its hearing on DIUC's Application for Approval of an Adjustment in Rates and Charges for Water and Sewer Services. Prior to any testimony, DIUC objected to the admission of the Settlement Agreement because, among other reasons, DIUC is not a party to the Settlement Agreement and therefore the purported settlement did not resolve or evidence resolution of any issue(s) presented by the Application. (Tr. at 42-44) The Commission overruled the objection. (Tr. at 48) The hearing proceeded and testimony was presented by DIUC, ORS, and the Intervenors.

On November 25, 2015, DIUC submitted a Proposed Order Approving Rates and Charges. (Proposed Order Approving Rates and Charges) ORS and the Intervenors submitted a joint proposed order requesting the Commission approve the Settlement Agreement between ORS and the Intervenors. (Joint Proposed Order Approving Rates)

On December 8, 2015, the Commission entered its decision, docketed as Order No. 2015-846, accepting the Settlement Agreement and making findings and conclusions implementing its terms as its ruling on DIUC's application. DIUC filed a timely Petition for Reconsideration and/or Rehearing on December 21, 2015. (Pet. Recon.) By Order No. 2016-50 dated February 25, 2016, the Commission denied the Petition for

Reconsideration and/or Rehearing. (Order 2016-50) On March 22, 2016, DIUC served its Notice of Appeal of Order No. 2015-846 and Order No. 2016-50. (Notice of Appeal)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

DIUC is classified as a Class B water and wastewater utility under the Uniform System of Accounts published by the National Association of Regulatory Utility Commissioners (“NARUC”). (Order 2015-846 at 2). The unique history and challenges facing this small water and sewer service provider as it struggles to provide safe and reliable service on an island accessible only by water are thoroughly described in the Report on Capital Improvements included with Hearing Exhibit 7. (Hearing Ex. 7)

The parties participated in exhaustive discovery before the hearing. DIUC was required to respond to in excess of 150 discovery requests (exclusive of multiple subparts), review the direct testimonies of nine witnesses, prepare rebuttal testimony and surrebuttal testimony, and prepare for the hearing on the Application. (Tr. at 218). By providing thorough responses to this overwhelming amount of discovery, DIUC established an ample basis for the methodology and rates requested. During this period DIUC also reviewed and analyzed the testimony submitted by ORS and the Intervenors.

In its Application, DIUC utilized a historic test year – the twelve months ending December 31, 2014, with known and measurable adjustments for 2015 expectations. (Order 2015-846 at p. 8) ORS and the Intervenors also proposed the Commission use a historical test year ending December 31, 2014. (Order 2015-846 at p. 8)

DIUC requested that its rates be determined in accordance with the rate of return on rate base methodology and requested the Commission specify, as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 58-5-240(H), an allowable operating margin. No party contested the use of

the rate of return on rate base methodology. Given the size of DIUC's rate base, the Commission found the rate of return on rate base methodology appropriate in this case.

(Order at p. 32)

DIUC summarized the necessity of the requested rate increases as follows:

...the current rates do not enable the Company to cover its cost of providing service and earn a fair return on its investment. The Company has not applied for rate relief since 2010 and has not yet established unified rates under its current consolidated status. The test year revenues, under current rates, produced net operating losses of \$21,174 for the water operations or a negative .65% return on its investment. The sewer operations experienced net operating income of \$59,890 or a 1.59% return on its investment. As this application demonstrates, the pro forma rate year under the current rates, would produce even less income and result in a negative 5.27% return for water and a negative 2.81% return for sewer. The proposed rates developed in this application are essential for the Daufuskie Island Utility Company to continue to provide its customers with adequate water and wastewater service.

(Application at 3)

The rates in effect at the time of the Application were those established in DIUC's prior rate proceeding, Docket No. 2011-229-WS. Specifically, via Commission Order No. 2012-515, the Commission approved a settlement inclusive of all the parties. As a compromise, DIUC agreed in that settlement to a negotiated revenue increase of \$291,485; a \$5 million rate base; an operating margin of 16.64%; and a Return on Equity of 8.81%. (Order 2015-846 p. 2). At the time of the settlement of the prior rate proceeding, DIUC was in dire funds to pay overdue bills, construct certain capital improvements, and conduct repairs including the breach of its wastewater treatment lagoon. (Hearing Exhibit 7 at pp.30-37)

On the afternoon of October 27, 2015, the day before the scheduled hearing on the Application, the Intervenors served and filed a document the purported "Settlement

Agreement.” (Cover Letter, Pringle to Boyd, with Settlement Agreement and Exhibits) The Cover Letter submitted by Counsel for the Intervenors reported the Settlement Agreement was “the result of a great deal of communication and collaboration between the POAs and the ORS.” (Id.) As plainly evident by its terms, DIUC did not consent to and is not a party to the purported “Settlement Agreement.” (Settlement Agreement at 1)

On October 28, 2015, at the commencement of the hearing, counsel for the Intervenors informed the Commission that the Intervenors and ORS had filed with the Commission a “settlement agreement.” (Tr. at 40) Pursuant to the purported “settlement agreement,” ORS and the Intervenors agreed to stipulate to “all of the adjustments made by the ORS, with the exception that the ORS amended its bad debt allowance to utilize the allowance proposed by Daufuskie Island Utility Company, Inc. (the "Company") in its Application. No other changes were made by ORS in reaching the Settlement.” (Tr. at p. 41-42) In other words, the Intervenors abandoned the rate structure and analysis proposed in their prefiled testimony and agreed to the calculations proposed by ORS. (Settlement Agreement and Rate Order at 10)

DIUC objected to the purported “settlement agreement” asserting that the Commission should not consider it, take notice of it, or admit it into the record. (Tr. at p. 42-44) DIUC objected on the grounds that the “settlement agreement” endorsed an even lower revenue number than originally proposed by ORS; that any agreement between ORS and Intervenors was irrelevant to the Application since the Company did not know about, much less agree to, the terms of the purported settlement agreement; and that admission of this “settlement Agreement was prejudicial to the Company. Id. DIUC’s counsel further explained that because DIUC was not a party to the agreement, the

document did not resolve any issue(s) presented by DIUC's Application; the document merely reports that two parties to the proceeding have negotiated among themselves and come to agree that they will oppose DIUC's Application in a unified manner. (Tr. at pp. 42-44)

The Commission overruled DIUC's objection and accepted the Settlement Agreement into the record. (Tr. at p. 48) The hearing proceeded and testimony was presented by DIUC, ORS, and the Intervenors.

At the hearing DIUC presented the prefiled testimony of John F. Guastella, President of Guastella Associates, LLC and Gary C. White, Vice President of Guastella Associates, LLC. (Tr. at pp. 134-296 and 119-133) Guastella Associates LLC ("GA") provides management, valuation and rate consulting services to water and wastewater utilities around the country, and has been the contract manager of DIUC (and its predecessors) since July 9, 2008.¹ DIUC also presented the prefiled testimony of The Honorable Maria Walls, Treasurer of Beaufort County, and prefiled testimony of Eric Johanson, Chief Operator of DIUC. (Tr. at 73-111 and 112-118). These witnesses also testified in person.

In addition to testifying based upon his almost 50 years of experience as an expert on rate making for water and sewer utilities, Mr. Guastella testified about the specific facts and calculations included in the Application. (Tr. at 125). With regard to the issue of the looming default on the SunTrust loan, Mr. Guastella testified that if the

¹ The stock purchase of Haig Point Utility Company, Inc. (now DIUC) by CK Materials LLC on July 9, 2008, from Haig Point, Inc. (formerly International Paper Realty Corporation of South Carolina) was approved by the Commission. The stock of DIUC was transferred from CK Materials, LLC to Daufuskie Island Holding Company, LLC in 2013 when the Commission approved DIUC's financing with SunTrust Bank.

adjustments proposed by ORS were imposed, the resulting rates “*will not give us enough money to pay our debt service on our existing loan. We will be in default because of all of these adjustments...*” (emphasis added) (DIUC’s Return to ORS’s Answer to and Intervenor’s Opposition to the Petition for Reconsideration and/or Rehearing at 2, citing Tr. p. 186) Neither the Intervenor nor ORS chose to cross-examine Mr. Guastella as to the basis of his statements that the rates proposed by the Settlement Agreement would result in default on the terms of the SunTrust loan. (DIUC Return at 2-3, citing testimony from Tr. p. 254, ll. 2-4; p. 255, ll. 8-10; p. 255, ll. 12-19; p. 256, l. 23 to p. 257, l. 7)

Mr. Guastella also testified as to each ORS adjustment incorporated into the Settlement Agreement that was ultimately adopted by the Commission. Of particular note to this appeal are the adjustments for property taxes, management fees, rate case expenses, bad debt, and rate base.

The Intervenor presented prefiled and summary testimony of Charles Loy and Lynn M. Lanier, both of whom are principals with GDS Associates, Inc., a utility consulting and engineering firm with its principal offices in Marietta, Georgia. (Tr. at 347-464). They also testified live as well.

The Intervenor also presented prefiled and summary testimony of the following DIUC customers: Doug Egly, Tony Simonelli, Paul Vogel, and Harry Jue, who also testified live. *See* Tr. at 305-347.

Beach Field did not present any witnesses. When the Commission queried as to whether any members of the public wished to be heard, one witness, Mr. Reed Dulaney, addressed the Commission. (Tr. at 58-72)

ORS presented prefiled and summary testimony of Ivana C. Gearheart, ORS Audit Manager; Willie J. Morgan, Deputy Director of the Water and Wastewater Division of ORS; and Dr. Douglas H. Carlisle, Economist at ORS. *See Tr.* at 466-543.

Pursuant to motions by each party, all prefiled testimony was read into the record as if given orally. The hearing adjourned at 7:30pm. (*Tr.* at 545)

On November 25, 2015, DIUC submitted a Proposed Order Approving Rates and Charges. (Proposed Order Approving Rates and Charges) ORS and the Intervenors submitted a joint proposed order requesting the Commission approve the Settlement Agreement between ORS and the Intervenors. (Joint Proposed Order Approving Settlement Agreement and Ruling on Application for Adjustments in Rates)

On December 8, 2015, the Commission entered its Order Approving Settlement Among Certain Parties and Ruling on Application for Adjustments and Rates. (Order 2015-846) Making this determination, the Commission adopted every adjustment proposed by ORS in the testimony and the “Settlement Agreement,” effectively rejecting all DIUC testimony, evidence and analysis. (Order 2015-846 p.32)

In an effort to explain the errors inherent in the Commission’s Order adopting the Settlement Agreement and the calculations of ORS, on December 21, 2015, DIUC filed a Petition for Reconsideration and/or Rehearing. (Pet. Recon.) In its Petition for Reconsideration, DIUC addressed the adjustments for property taxes; management fees; rate case expenses; bad debts; and rate base, including evidentiary matters as well as the Commission’s failure to include the values of DIUC’s elevated storage tank and related facilities as well as other utility plant in service. (*Id.*) In summary, the Petition for Reconsideration explained that the Order’s adjustments are without factual foundation

and ignore measurable expenses and the rate of return and operating margins stated in the Order are entirely illusory. (Pet. Recon at 1)

Highlighting the evidence in support of its Application, DIUC's Petition for Reconsideration cited testimony from DIUC regarding the impact of the Order's approved rates upon DIUC; specifically, the Petition pointed out that the "approved rates do not provide DIUC sufficient income to pay debt service (principle and interest) on [its] existing Suntrust Bank loans and to pay necessary operating expenses." (Pet. Recon at 1)

The Petition for Reconsideration also included a one-page summary of the income allowed by the Order alongside the expenses submitted by DIUC in support of the Application. (Pet. Recon, Attachment A) ORS and Intervenors both objected to the inclusion of this exhibit, arguing that they did not have the opportunity to test the data contained in Attachment A to the Petition. (DIUC's Return at 4) This position was unfounded because Attachment A merely presented the combined water and sewer revenues permitted by the Commission's Order adopting the Settlement Agreement and subtracts the actual cost of operations that DIUC will incur. (DIUC Return at 4 and Attachment A) The actual operating expenses listed in the Attachment are the same as those reflected in DIUC's filings in the case, including the proposed Order submitted on November 25, 2015. (Application, DIUC Proposed Order Approving Rates and Charges, and DIUC Return to ORS and Intervenors Resp. to Pet. for Recon.)

In response to the Petition for Reconsideration's highlighting of the evidence regarding imminent default on DIUC's financing obligations, ORS and the Intervenors both filed responses asserting the Petition for Reconsideration's references to the pending default should be disregarded by the Commission. (Intervenors' Response in Opposition

to Petition for Reconsideration and ORS Answer to DIUC Petition for Reconsideration and/or Rehearing) By Order No. 2016-50 dated February 25, 2016, the Commission denied DIUC's Petition for Reconsideration and/or Rehearing. (Order 2016-50)

This Appeal followed.

DIUC now seeks this Court's review of the Commission's errors including, but not limited to, its consideration of and "approval" of the Settlement Agreement between ORS and the Intervenors; the Commission's refusal to consider the imminent default of DIUC on its financing obligations which was fully presented to the Commission as part of DIUC's Application and was therefore properly included with the Petition for Reconsideration; and the Commission's adoption of the ORS and Intervenors' Settlement Agreement with its downward adjustments to property taxes, management fees, rate case expenses, bad debts, and rate base, none of which are not supported by the evidence in the record and constitute legal error.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

South Carolina appellate courts employ a deferential standard of review when reviewing a decision of the Public Service Commission, but affirm a Commission decision only when substantial evidence supports it. Porter v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 333 S.C. 12, 21, 507 S.E.2d 328, 332 (1998). The party challenging a Commission order "bears the burden of convincingly proving the decision is clearly erroneous, or arbitrary or capricious, or an abuse of discretion, in view of the substantial evidence on the whole record." Duke Power Co. v. PSC of S.C., 343 S.C. 554, 558, 541 S.E.2d 250, 252 (2001) citing Porter v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 333 S.C. 12, 507 S.E.2d 328 (1998) and S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(A)(6) (Supp. 1999). "Substantial evidence is not a mere scintilla;

rather, it is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the same conclusion as the agency.” Chisolm v. S.C. Dept. of DMV, 402 S.C. 593, 609, 741 S.E.2d 42, 51 (Ct. App. 2013) citing Friends of Earth v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of S.C., 387 S.C. 360, 366, 692 S.E.2d 910, 913 (2010).

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