RECEIVED

OCT 20 2016

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM
THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF SOUTH CAROLINA

Docket No. 2014-346-WS
Appellate Case No. 2016-000652

Daufuskie Island Utility Company, Inc., Appellant;

v.

South Carolina Office of Regulatory Staff,
Haig Point Club and Community Association, Inc.,
Melrose Property Owner's Association, Inc.,
Bloody Point Property Owner's Association, and
Beach Field Properties, LLC, Respondents,

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT
SOUTH CAROLINA OFFICE OF REGULATORY STAFF**

Shannon Bowyer Hudson
Andrew M. Bateman
South Carolina Office of Regulatory Staff
1401 Main Street, Suite 900
Columbia, SC 29201

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

The Commission's regulations define "water plant" as "all facilities *owned by the utility* for the collection, production, purification, storage, transmission, metering and distribution of potable water." (Emphasis added.) 10 S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 103-702.16 (2012). The regulation requires ownership. ORS counsel addressed the Elevated Storage Tank in her opening at the outset of the hearing:

The utility will tell you it owns the water tower. It's not so clear. The Office of Regulatory Staff cannot determine whether the utility owns the water tower, or if the man who bought the property in the delinquent tax sale owns the water tower. Because the utility has not proven with certainty, and to ORS's satisfaction, that it owns the water tower, the Office of Regulatory Staff cannot, in good conscience, recommend that the ratepayers pay the company a return on a water tower that it may not own. It's that simple. (Tr. p. 56, ll. 3-14) (R. p. 328, lines 3-14.)

On pages 18 and 19 in Commission Order No. 2016-50, the Commission utilized passages from ORS's Answer to DIUC's Petition for Reconsideration to support its finding that the Elevated Storage Tank was properly removed from rate base. As reflected in that Order there is confusion over ownership of the Elevated Storage Tank. DIUC failed to provide convincing evidence of ownership of the Elevated Storage Tank, and the tank was therefore properly removed from rate base.

DIUC asserts it has a perpetual easement to the Elevated Storage Tank which allows its continued use; however, an easement does not equal ownership. (DIUC Initial Brief p. 46.) Access to and usage of a non-owned asset does not entitle a utility to have its ratepayers pay for the non-owned asset. The evidence supports the Commission's decision to not allow it in rate base. 10 S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 103-702.16. If at some future date DIUC can show it owns the Elevated Storage Tank and that it remains used and useful to the utility, then DIUC will be entitled in its next rate case to include the tank's value in plant in service and receive recovery through rates. (Tr. p. 529, ll. 14-23) (R. p. 801, lines 14-23.)

In conclusion, agreement on this issue with DIUC would establish precedent in South Carolina to permit utilities to sell their assets while simultaneously recovering the value of those assets through rates charged to their customers. It would also have the effect of expanding the definition in 10 S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 103-702.16 to include non-owned water plant. There is substantial evidence showing uncertainty over whether DIUC owns the Elevated Storage Tank and to support the Commission's decision.

E. The Commission's decision to adopt ORS's recommended property tax expense is supported by substantial evidence.

For property tax expense, ORS recommended inclusion of \$171,492 annually to cover taxes using: 1) DIUC's per book amount, 2) the 2012 tax amounts, 3) the 2013 tax amounts, and 4) the 2014 test year amount. (Tr. p. 495, ll. 6-15; p. 496, ll. 1-4; p. 518. ll. 14 – p. 519, ll. 16) (R. p. 767, lines 6-15; p. 768, lines 1-4; p. 790 line 14-p.791, line 16.) DIUC requested \$258,227.40 annually for property tax expenses. (DIUC Initial Brief p. 33.) It is undisputed that DIUC did not pay Beaufort County taxes for certain years. (Tr. p. 212 ll. 18-23) (R. p. 484, lines 18-23.) As a result, Beaufort County and DIUC entered into a Property Tax Settlement Agreement, amended once, for the payment of taxes for years 2012, 2013, 2014, and 2015. (Hearing Exhibit 5, Walls Exhibit A.) (R. pp. 835-840.) ORS recommended that DIUC receive \$244,899 for the 2012 and 2013 taxes with that amount amortized over 8 years. (Tr. p. 495, ll. 6-15) (R. p. 767, lines 6-15.) With the 8-year amortization, DIUC would receive \$30,612 annually for the 2012 and 2013 taxes. Id. In addition ORS recommended that DIUC receive \$140,880 for the 2014 taxes with no amortization. (Tr. p. 496, ll. 1-4; p. 518. ll. 14 – p. 519, ll. 16 (R. p. 768, lines 1-4; p. 790, lines 14-p. 791, line 16.) The sum of ORS's recommendations equal \$171,492 annually for taxes. Id. For comparison, the POAs recommended lower amounts. (Tr. p. 427, ll. 12-18) (R. p. 699, lines 12-18.)

ORS uses known and measurable amounts in calculating adjustments. (Tr. p. 473, ll. 3) (R. p. 745, line 3.) ORS recommended including the 2012 and 2013 taxes, because DIUC did not have an opportunity to request a rate increase to recover taxes for these years after agreeing to a moratorium through July 1, 2014 in the settlement in Docket No. 2011-229-WS. (Tr. p. 518. ll. 14 – p. 519, ll. 16) (R. p. 790, line 14-p. 791, line 16.) ORS included the 2014 taxes because 2014 was DIUC's test year. Id. ORS declined to support recovery of the 2015 taxes. Id. DIUC witness Beaufort County Assessor Maria Walls testified that annual tax notices are mailed in November

and are due the following January. (Tr. p. 84 ll. 2-9) (R. p. 356, lines 2-9.) Accordingly, the taxes billed November 1, 2015, would be due January 15, 2016. Id. Specifically, 2015 taxes were not recommended by ORS because 2014 was the test year chosen by the DIUC and DIUC had not been billed for the 2015 taxes. (Tr. p. 518. ll. 14 – p. 519, ll. 16) (R. p. 790, line 14-p. 791, line 16.)

DIUC maintains that the 2015 amount should have been included because the amount was set forth as a known amount in the Beaufort County Property Tax Settlement. (DIUC Initial Brief p. 29.) DIUC chose 2014 as its test year, and ORS declined to recommend amounts from a future test year even though the amount was part of a settlement agreement with Beaufort County. (Tr. p. 518. ll. 14 – p. 519, ll. 16) (R. p. 790, line 14-p. 791, line 16.) The Commission agreed and stated that delinquent taxes are not the fault of the customers while also acknowledging DIUC's settlement with Beaufort County had already been amended once and could be amended in the future. (Order Nos. 2015-846 p. 23 and 2016-50, p. 10; Hearing Exhibit 5, Walls Exhibit A) (R. p. 52; p. 15; pp. 835-840.)

With respect to the Annual Reports that DIUC states were wrongly relied upon by the Commission, those showed that DIUC does not pay taxes on all of its utility plant in service it claims to be part of its rate base in this docket and that DIUC reduced its plant in service by a value greater than the Elevated Storage Tank. (Order No. 2016-50, p. 10) (R. p. 15.) The Commission did not rely solely upon the Annual Reports for its decision, but used them to show the tax situation is still in "disarray." (Order Nos. 2015-846, p. 19-21 and 2016-50, p. 10) (R. pp. 48-50; p. 15.) The Commission's ruling for property taxes was based upon substantial evidence, and ORS respectfully requests that the Court affirm the Commission's decision.

F. There is no error in the Commission accepting DIUC's methodology for bad debt expenses that DIUC set forth in its Application

DIUC asserts the use of its own methodology is error. (DIUC Initial Brief p. 52.) Specifically, DIUC asserts it is error for the Commission to adopt the methodology set forth in DIUC's Application for calculating bad debt expense. *Id.* DIUC asserts the bad debt adjustment set forth in ORS's pre-filed direct testimony is appropriate, because ORS recommended more money for DIUC. (Tr. p. 136, ll. 19 - p. 137, ll. 10) (R. p. 408, line 19-p. 409, line 10.) Prior to the Settlement Agreement, ORS recommended \$105,384 for bad debt expenses by applying 0.5% to the pro forma revenues. (Tr. p. 493, ll. 11-13) (R. p. 765, lines 11-13.) The POAs recommended \$23,554 for bad debt expense. (Hearing Exhibit 14, Amended Lanier Exhibit 3, C-4) (R. p. 1002.)

In the Settlement Agreement, the methodology used by the Company in its Application was accepted by the ORS and POAs and the result was a lower number than the one put forth in ORS's direct testimony. (Tr. p. 57, ll. 3-8, p. 502, ll. 24 - p. 503, ll. 2, Hearing Exhibit 3, Settlement Agreement) (R. p. 329, lines 3-8; p. 774, line 24-p. 775, line 2; p. 820-833.) The Commission reasoned "this bad debt expense methodology is just and reasonable, particularly because it encourages DIUC to collect those debts it is owed." (Commission Order No. 2015-846, p. 27) (R. p. 56.) There is no error in the Commission agreeing to the same methodology utilized and proffered by the Company in its Application.

II. THE COMMISSION COMMITTED NO ERROR IN GRANTING 39.1% OF DIUC'S REQUESTED REVENUE INCREASE AND IN APPROVING THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT.

DIUC asserts the Commission committed errors in admitting the Settlement Agreement between the POAs and ORS. (DIUC Initial Brief p. 13-23.) ORS disagrees. The Commission could have reached the same ruling in this case if the Settlement Agreement had never existed,

because the Commission substantiated each of its findings from evidence in the record. The Commission agreed with ORS's recommendations from ORS's pre-filed testimony except for the bad debt expense.

Nevertheless, ORS addresses each of DIUC's assertions. DIUC states the Commission violated its own Settlement Policies and Procedures and that admission of the Settlement Agreement was:

- Irrelevant and immaterial;
- Evidence of collusion between ORS and the Intervenors in an effort to unduly influence the Commission;¹⁷
- A vessel to usurp the fact finding of the Commission, cause the Commission not to weigh the evidence, and to suggest that DIUC was unreasonable and not acting in the public's interest; and
- Prejudicial.

In addition and with respect to the Settlement Agreement, DIUC asserts the Commission violated S.C. Rules of Evidence 401, 402, 403 and 408; violated 10 S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 103-846 (2012); erred in admitting the Settlement Agreement into evidence; and erred in allowing testimony after the Settlement Agreement was entered into evidence. The Commission committed no errors with respect to the Settlement Agreement.

First, ORS has the statutory duty and responsibility "to serve as a facilitator or otherwise act directly or indirectly to resolve disputes and issues involving matters within the jurisdiction of the commission." S.C. Code Ann. § 58-4-50(A)(9) (2015). In S.C. Code Ann. § 58-4-50(A)(9) (2015), the General Assembly recognizes the benefit of resolving matters among parties on matters before the Commission. DIUC asserts there was error in admitting this Settlement Agreement because DIUC was not a signatory. However, the General Assembly did not require that

¹⁷ ORS shared its work papers and the resulting revenue, ROE and operating margin from its adjustments with DIUC and the POAs. ORS communicates and shares information with parties in proceedings. There was nothing improper about ORS's conduct with the POAs.

resolutions on matters before the Commission have agreement among *all* parties or with the applicant. The General Assembly's endorsement of resolutions shows that settlement agreements are relevant to matters before the Commission.

Second, the Settlement Agreement at issue here contained terms based on ORS's recommendations in its pre-filed testimony and the bad debt expense methodology set forth in DIUC's Application. It contained relevant information already pre-filed with the Commission. It was not unfairly prejudicial, misleading or confusing. The Commission stated, "The evidence presented by ORS in the present case was competent and credible, and we reasonably accepted it on its own merits. The only adjustment accepted by us as part of the Settlement Agreement that was not an ORS adjustment was the Company's original bad debt adjustment." (Order No. 2016-50 p. 22) (R. p. 27.) In other words, the Commission could have reached its same findings without the Settlement Agreement. The revenue, ROE, and operating margin calculated and presented in the Settlement Agreement utilized ORS's adjustments and DIUC's methodology for bad debt expense. It was not error for the Commission to hear all testimony from the settling parties to fulfill its role as fact finder and in pursuit of its statutory duties. The Commission did not act contrary to or in violation of S.C. Rules of Evidence 401, 402, and 403 and 10 S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 103-846 (2012).

DIUC argues that the Settlement Agreement is prejudicial because it suggests "DIUC was unreasonable and not acting in the public's interest since it was not a party to it." (DIUC Initial Brief p. 19.) The mere introduction of a settlement in no way suggests unreasonableness on the part of a party. Conversely, the Commission was entitled to determine that the Settlement Agreement was unreasonable. The Settlement Agreement was also not evidence of conduct or statements made in compromise negotiations. Instead, the Settlement Agreement was the product

of negotiations. There was no violation of S.C. Rule of Evidence 408. Last, DIUC does not have a duty to act in the public's interest.

DIUC asserts that the Commission violated its own Settlement Policies and Procedures.¹⁸ (R. p. 1484.) DIUC did not raise a violation of the Settlement Policies and Procedures prior to this appeal. Therefore, the allegation that the Commission violated its Settlement Policies and Procedures is not preserved for appeal. In addition, the Settlement Policies and Procedures are not included in DIUC's Designation of Matter. Nevertheless, among the five sections in the Settlement Policies and Procedures, DIUC focuses on Section V. (R. p. 1485.) However, Section V sets forth procedures for when *all* parties to a proceeding reach an agreement. *Id.* The Settlement Policies and Procedures contain the following statements from Sections I through IV which discuss settlements in general:

- “The Commission encourages the resolution of matters brought before it through the use of stipulations and settlements.” (Section I.)
- “Settlements must be supported by probative evidence.” (Section I.)
- “Proponents of a proposed settlement carry the burden of showing that the settlement is reasonable, in the public interest, or otherwise in accordance with law or regulatory policy.” (Section III.)
- “The Commission is not bound by settlements.” (Section IV.)
- “[The Commission] will independently review any settlement proposed to it to determine whether the settlement is just, fair and reasonable, in the public interest, or otherwise in accordance with law or regulatory policy.” (Section IV.)

¹⁸ DIUC refers to Settlement Procedures revised 6/13/2005. The Settlement Procedures on the Commission's website state they were revised 6/13/2006. (R. p. 1484.)

(R. p. 1484.)

The above statements from the Commission's Settlement Policies and Procedures further support the Commission's decision to hear the testimony of ORS and the POAs after the Settlement Agreement was entered into evidence.

Section V of the Settlement Policies and Procedures begins, "When *all* parties to a proceeding reach agreement with regard to all issues in the form of a settlement signed by *all* parties or their representatives, the following procedures shall be followed: [remainder not replicated]." (Emphasis added.) (R. p. 1485.) Section V, which DIUC focuses on in its brief, does not apply to this case since the Settlement Agreement did not contain signatures from all parties. The Commission did not violate its Settlement Policies and Procedures with respect to the Settlement Agreement.

In conclusion, the Commission heard all testimony and considered the evidence and could have reached the very same conclusions in its Orders without the Settlement Agreement. There was no error in the Settlement Agreement's admission or approval.

III. THE COMMISSION COMMITTED NO ERROR IN REFUSING TO CONSIDER LOAN SPECIFICS THAT WERE NOT RAISED DURING THE HEARING.

DIUC asserts the Commission's Orders will cause "inevitable loan default." (DIUC Initial Brief p. 23.) The Commission correctly ruled that it cannot address these issues. "While Company witness Guastella made a bare assertion at the hearing, which is referenced in the Petition [for Reconsideration], regarding the effect of adoption of the rates approved in the Settlement Agreement, the specific issues and characterizations of the [loan] Covenants, DIUC's operation under the Covenants, and SunTrust's putative actions pursuant to the Covenants raised in the Petition [for Reconsideration] and discussed in [Petition for Reconsideration] Attachment A were

not raised during the hearing.” (Order No. 2016-50 p. 5) (R. p. 10.) The referenced loan documents were not offered as evidence and are not in the record of this case. (Order No. 2016-50 p. 4) (R. p. 9.)

DIUC’s assertion about default is unsupported by the record. Mr. Guastella’s pre-filed direct testimony addressed the main reasons for DIUC’s proposed revenue:

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